# **RECEIVED**

06-19-2014

# CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2013AP000127 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

RAHEEM MOORE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable David L. Borowski, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

EILEEN A. HIRSCH Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1016386

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 264-8566 hirsche@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

# **

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the detective's decision to turn off the recorder violate the mandate of *In re Jerrell C.J.* and Wis. Stat. § 938.195, thus requiring suppression of Raheem's unrecorded statement?

The circuit court interpreted Raheem's colloquy with a detective as a "refusal" to cooperate with recording under Wis. Stat. § 938.31(3)(c)1. Therefore it denied the suppression motion.

The majority of the court of appeals held that although Raheem never expressly stated that he refused to talk if the recorder was left on, his words and actions constituted a refusal. The concurrence concluded that Raheem's verbal expression of discomfort with recording did not constitute a refusal.

II. When 15-year-old Raheem Moore gave an unrecorded inculpatory statement to a Milwaukee Police Detective eleven hours after he was arrested, held incommunicado and interrogated by two teams of detectives who did not call his parents and who used numerous psychological techniques to induce his confession, was his statement voluntary?

The trial court ruled: The statement was voluntary.

The court of appeals held: The statement was voluntary.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

In a case important enough to merit this court's review, oral argument and publication are warranted.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Fifteen-year-old Raheem Moore was charged with first degree reckless homicide, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.02(1). According to the complaint, James W. Parish was shot during the course of a robbery by Raynard Franklin and Raheem on October 8, 2008. (2). The court made a decision to retain jurisdiction pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2). (88:70-83). Raheem did not appeal that decision.

Raheem's attorneys filed a motion to suppress his statements to police. (33). After several evidentiary hearings, the court denied both parts of the suppression motion. (94:79, 92:15; App. 130, 142).

The state subsequently filed an amended information charging Raheem with second degree reckless homicide as a party to the crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.06(1), 939.50(3)(d), and 939.05. (57). Raheem pled guilty to that charge. (99).

The court sentenced Raheem to 20 years in prison, with an 11-year term of initial confinement and a 9-year term of extended supervision. (100:57). He appealed from the judgment of conviction. (63). The court of appeals affirmed the conviction. *State v. Moore*, 2013AP127-CR (Slip op, ¶48; App. 124).

Because this appeal is limited to the decisions regarding suppression of his statements to police, the following statement of facts focuses solely on facts relevant to that issue.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### **Background**

Two days after the shooting, Raheem Moore was arrested at 12:05 p.m. and taken to the crime investigation bureau office in Milwaukee. (40:2). He was 15 years and 40 days old, and in 8<sup>th</sup> grade. (2; 101Ex6:9). After booking, Raheem was placed in an eight-by-eight foot interrogation room furnished with a table and three chairs. (93:13). Detectives Scott Gastrow and Charles Mueller entered the room at 2:49 p.m. to begin his interrogation. (101Ex6:1).

Raheem's intelligence quotient (IQ) had been measured at 73, within the "borderline" range of intelligence. (82:67). Borderline scores "indicate pretty limited to marginal intellectual resources and suggest he's likely to have difficulty with abstract concepts, abstract reasoning, problem solving skills and anticipating the consequences of actions." (82:68).<sup>2</sup> Raheem's mother reported developmental delays in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The record in the court of appeals includes a large envelope identified as Record 101. Three transcripts of the three different portions of Raheem's interrogation are enclosed, and are labeled exhibits 2, 3 and 6. Therefore, in referencing those transcripts, the record cite used in this brief is 101Ex2:page number; 101Ex3:page number and 101Ex6:page number.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Borderline is between "low average" intelligence and mental retardation. (82:115). An IQ score of 69 is in the mental retardation range. (94:53). Raheem's IQ score places him in the bottom 3 percent of same-age peers. (43:7).

early childhood, and by the time he was four years old, he was being treated for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. He had failed fifth grade. (94:39; 43:5; 21:3-4). Raheem had a "long track record of . . . difficulty understanding and using language." (94:39).

Raheem struggled with depression and anxiety, and feelings of inadequacy and loneliness. Psychological testing showed him "needing and seeking acceptance, but lacking support and nurturance from the adults in his life," and that he had "difficulty interpreting social interactions and social cues." (82:116-117).

#### **Parents**

Raheem told Detectives Gastrow and Mueller that he was living with his father and his uncle. He gave them their names, address and telephone number. (101Ex6:2-4). The detectives did not ask Raheem if he wanted to call his father, and did not allow him to call his father because "[h]e didn't ask." (93:28). Raheem also told the detectives that his mother was at a specific drug treatment facility in Milwaukee. (101Ex6:3). Asked about a call to his mother, Detective Gastrow testified: "he never asked to call a parent. So I wouldn't have offered for him to call a parent." (93:27).

# Miranda Rights

Detective Gastrow read *Miranda* rights from a card, asking Raheem after each right if he understood. Each time, Raheem answered "Yeah." (101Ex6:15-16). When Detective Gastrow explained the right to have a lawyer present during questioning and asked Raheem to explain that right in his own words, Raheem's answer was non-responsive to the question.

Detective G: If you decide to answer questions now without a lawyer present, you have the right to stop the questioning at any time you wish and the right to ask for and to have a lawyer at any time you wish, including during questioning. Do you understand that?

Moore: Yeah.

Detective G: What does that mean in your own words?

Moore: That mean like, if I'm talking to you all, then I don't want to say no more, I can just, um, don't say nothing.

101Ex6:16

Apparently neither detective noticed that he had not explained the right to counsel. They both told him he was right. (101Ex6:16).

Subsequent testing of Raheem's understanding of *Miranda* rights showed that he had difficulty with abstract language, and scored "very, very poorly" on "his understanding of how the right to silence works during an interrogation." (94:26, 32).

### **Initial Interrogation**

Detective Gastrow told Raheem that the topic was the shooting of Mr. Parish, and that police had "talked to several people already." He asked Raheem to tell him "what happened that night." (101Ex6:16-17).

Raheem said he was sitting on a girl's porch when he heard a gunshot. When he named the girl, Detective Mueller said they had talked to that girl and others, and "you weren't on their porch when this happened." (101Ex6:17). When Raheem explained his whereabouts and actions that night in

more detail, one of the detectives contradicted him, saying that he knew Raheem was involved in the shooting.<sup>3</sup> (101Ex6:20-21).

Raheem denied involvement. (101Ex6:21). Detective Mueller asked if he was "afraid to tell us who did it?" (101Ex6:21). Raheem said he didn't know who did it. (101Ex6:21). Detective Gastrow countered, "you were one of the two boys out there and that's very good information, that's not nobody guessing. That's the truth okay. We want you to tell us the truth . . . ." (101Ex6:23).

Raheem again denied being involved, saying "I wasn't with nobody." (101Ex6:24). Detective Gastrow disagreed: "Yeah you were." (101Ex6. 24).

A detective said Ronald Franklin told them that Raheem was involved in the shooting. Raheem again denied involvement. (101Ex6:27). A detective replied, "He's in the next room!" (101Ex6:27). That was not true; Ronald Franklin was not in the next room, and was not even in police custody. (93:31). Detective Gastrow testified that the lie about Ronald Franklin was an interrogation "technique" used by police. (93:31-32).

Raheem denied involvement twice more. (101Ex6:27). A detective replied, "the best way to get through this is to be honest about it. . ." (101Ex6:28). Five more times Raheem denied and five more times a detective disagreed. (101Ex6:28-29). The fifth time, the detective said:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Portions of this transcript do not identify which detective spoke. It just says: "Detective." The same designation is used in this fact statement.

Not going to cut it. You think anybody is going to have mercy out for you out at the Children's Center with all those lies?

(101Ex6:29-30).

Raheem's denials and the detectives' insistence that he was involved continued, with both detectives joining in. (101Ex6:30-31). Detective Gastrow suggested a scenario of reduced culpability: "Maybe it started out something really simple and got somebody just did something stupid as opposed to maybe when I go to the DA, the DA will look at it like hey, those kids just wanted to murder." (101Ex6:31).

Detective Mueller joined in "Maybe they thought it was funny. Maybe those boys running away laughing thought that was a cool thing to do to run and shoot somebody." (101Ex6:32). Detective Gastrow suggested an alternative, describing accident scenarios. Both detectives spun various scenarios, contrasting intentional murder with accidents, exhorting Raheem to tell them "what's going on in your mind at the time." They brought up the DA again, saying it "could look like a cold blooded murder." (101Ex6:34).

Detective Gastrow acknowledged that the accident scenarios are a "minimizing" technique used by police. (93:32).

However, Raheem continued to deny, and a detective said:

Detective: Sitting here, not telling the truth it's not going to help you out, okay. Cuz you're going to look like a liar and you're going to look like a cold hearted young man. You're going to look like a man that has no conscience. Do you know what a conscience is?

Detective: It means that you don't care about anybody but themselves.

Detective: It means you have no feelings for anybody. It means you don't care that that man is dead.

101Ex6:36.

Still Raheem denied. (101Ex6:36, 37, 38, 39, 40). A detective tried empathy: "Your mom's got, been hooked on drugs and cocaine and she probably wasn't always there for you like you would have liked growing up. Especially coming up now, your 15 years old. Your 12, 13, 14, and those are tough times for a young man. Lots of pressures on a young man." (101Ex6:40).

A detective showed him a picture of James Parrish. (101Ex6:42). He had a good family, the detective said. "Now this family is in grief. We're the ones that had to go over there and tell them what happened to him. Okay and they were besides themselves in grief." (101Ex6:43). The detective continued:

. . . it goes a long way for somebody involved in something like to show some kind of sympathy for the family. To show that they have remorse and sadness for what they did because they made a mistake. We've seen it in court many, many times where the family actually forgives the people. I mean it does them a world of good, especially because they're a religious family, a Christian family like the dad said, and they, they know how to forgive somebody no matter what the circumstances. . . .

101Ex6:44.

Still Raheem denied involvement, until the detectives took a break at 4:02 p.m. (101Ex6:44, 51, 52, 53). They let Raheem use the bathroom, and fed him two bologna sandwiches, Doritos, and water. At 4:30, the interrogation resumed. (101Ex6:53). A detective said:

You're a decent kid, I think you made a mistake but we think you deserve a second chance, okay. . . .

You know why we think that? Because you've been respectful to us okay? . . . . It shows that you maybe just were with the wrong people, wrong people when this thing happened.

#### 101Ex6:53-54.

At that point, Raheem admitted to some involvement, saying Jevonte approached him about a robbery. (101Ex6:55). Asked if they both were going to do a robbery, he said: "Naw, he was going to do it. I was just part of it." Asked how he was part of it, he said, "like party to a crime," and "I was just with him." (101Ex6:55).

For the rest of that part of the interrogation, which ended at 5:34 p.m., the detectives questioned Raheem about the details of the crime. (101Ex6:56-91).

The recorder stopped working before the interrogation ended, but Raheem does not claim that it had any impact on the admissibility of his statements. At the suppression hearing, the parties agreed "that malfunctions happen from time to time, it was not done purposefully and was not actually known until after the fact." (91:6).

### **Second Interrogation**

Almost three hours later, a fresh team of detectives entered the interrogation room and restated the *Miranda* warnings at 8:28 p.m. Detectives Paul Lough and David Salazar then handcuffed Raheem and took him in a squad car to view the scene of the shooting. (101Ex2:2-8).

As he answered questions about the scene of the crime and order of events, Raheem described being a lookout for the robbery, which was committed by a guy named Jevonte. (101Ex2:15).

Still in the squad car, Detective Salazar confronted Raheem, saying nobody in the neighborhood knew Jevonte. (101Ex2:31). Detective Salazar then suggested that the shooter put Raheem in a difficult "situation," and "he got you in trouble. But at the same time I think you're kind of scared of him." (101Ex2:32). He talked about senseless murders, said he knew it was hard for Raheem, and "you're trying to do the right thing for the family too of the victim?" (101Ex2:33-34).

Detective Salazar again suggested Raheem was "scared of the other person," and warned him that "you're hurting yourself by not being completely honest." (101Ex2:34). He returned to the theme of Raheem having a hard life. He said Jevonte did not exist, and urged Raheem not to "make the mistake by lying" about the other person involved in the robbery. (101Ex2:34-35).

Back at the station, Raheem asked for a second time whether his cousin, nicknamed Squeak, was still in custody. Detective Salazar said he got arrested "cause he lied about some things." (101Ex2:37-38). He repeated that: "well your

guy lied about some things and got himself arrested." (101Ex2:38). Later, Detective Salazar brought up Squeak a third time, saying: "And since your friend got arrested he decided it was in his best interest to tell the whole truth. Okay. He asked about his ah his friend." (101Ex2:41).

Raheem also asked, at about 9:47 p.m.: "You think we're gonna be here all night?" The detective answered, "Hopefully not." (101Ex2:37). Detective Salazar again showed Raheem a picture of James Parish. (101Ex2:39). He again shifted blame to "the other guy," saying: "You're the only person that's being held responsible for this whole thing. Alright. And we know that you're not the person ultimately responsible." (101Ex2:41).

## Request to Turn Off Recorder

When Detective Salazar asked why he was scared of the other person, Raheem said, "[c]ause he might try, he might try to kill me or something." (101Ex2:41). The detectives said they would protect him. When they asked for his "real name," Raheem asked, "Ah you mind take that thing off," referring to the recorder. Detective Salazar deflected the request.

Moore: Ah you mind take that thing off.

Salazar: What thing off?

Moore: Ah what you call it?

Salazar: The recorder? Well the reason why we

don't want the recorder turned off because we don't want somebody to coming in here and saying that we beat you. Okay. You know what I mean? That we did anything, mis, any misconduct. You know what I'm saying? You know how in the movies where they take the phone book out and they beat people. Okay. INAUDIBLE. You've seen movies right.

Lough: Are you worried that we would play that

for him?

Moore: Hmmm

Lough: No. We don't do that. Okay.

Salazar. Okay. That recorder's there mainly for

my protection and my partner's protection. Now if you want it turned off because you asked for it, I will turn it off. But I just wanted to explain to

you why it's on.

Moore: Hmm.

Salazar: Okay. It's completely up to you. But

that's why it's there. Okay. Who is the

other person?

Moore: Can I see the pictures again?

101Ex2:42.

Raheem then identified Ronald Franklin's brother, Raynard, as the person involved in the armed robbery. (101Ex2:43).

When the detectives asked if Raheem had been threatened about identifying Raynard, he said his brother, Ronald had told him "don't tell or I'll kill you." He said he believed the threat. (101Ex2:47). Raheem said he and Raynard were the two people involved in the robbery, and Raynard had the gun. (101Ex2:48).

During the next approximately 10 minutes, detectives repeatedly asked Raheem if he was the one who shot the gun, and each time Raheem said he was not. (101Ex2:48, 49, 54). The detectives responded that Raynard said Raheem shot the gun. (101Ex2:49, 54). Then Detective Salazar went to talk to the "detective that's talking to Raynard right now," and they took a 13-minute break. (101Ex2:55).

#### **Detectives Turn Off Recorder**

After the break, the detectives again questioned Raheem for about 20 minutes about details of the crime. After a series of questions about the gun, Detective Salazar decided to take notes:

Salazar: Okay. Alright. Let me see once. Okay.

Take a few notes real quick.

Lough: Yeah.

Salazar: You mind if I just take a few notes.

Moore: What ah do you want ah like talk on

there?

Salazar: You want me to turn that off?

Moore: Yeah

Salazar: Just tell me why you want me to turn

this off?

Moore: Cause I don't feel safe INAUDIBLE

that.

Salazar: Okay, So you're asking me to turn it off.

And you realize that we want to keep it on? Right? Yes, no? I need you to

answer yes or no. How's that?

Moore: Yes

Salazar: Okay.

Lough: Who are you afraid of because of this?

Us?

Moore: Uh huh.

Lough: Who then?

Moore: Raynard

Lough: Raynard? Okay

Salazar: So you realize that we're not asking to

turn it off? Okay. And we're not encouraging you to turn it off? Is that

right?

Moore: Mmm

Salazar: Yes or no?

Moore: Yes

Salazar: Okay. The only reason you want us to

turn it off is because it's your own

choice? Is that right? Yes or no?

Moore: Yes.

Salazar: Okay. Any other thing you need to put

on this before I turn it off?

Lough: No. We're gonna turn it off at

10:42 p.m.

Salazar: And that's at his request. Is that true?

Moore: Yes.

101Ex2:75-76.

The recorder was turned off.

# **Recorded Conclusion of Interrogation**

The interrogation continued. At 11:20 p.m., Detective Salazar stated "about three minutes ago" while the recorder was off, Raheem had "suddenly admitted that he was the shooter." He said he had decided to turn the recorder back on and "keep it secreted because we want to be able to use this statement later on." (101Ex3:2).

For the next 24 minutes, Detective Salazar asked Raheem to repeat his unrecorded statement, and asked questions about details. Raheem said he fired the gun, because he was scared, and he did not mean to hit anyone. (101Ex3:3-4).

The interrogation ended at 11:44 p.m.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Evidence of Raheem's Unrecorded Statements and the Recorded Statements That Followed Were Not Admissible Because Raheem Did Not "Refuse to Respond or Cooperate" With Recording.
  - A. Introduction and standard of review.

In 2005, this court held that "it is time for Wisconsin to tackle the false confession issue" and "take appropriate action so that the youth of our state are protected from confessing to crimes they did not commit." *In the Interest of Jerrell C.J.*, 2005 WI 105, ¶ 59, 283 Wis. 2d 145, 699 N.W. 2d 110. The court determined that an electronic recording requirement is a "means to that end," and ordered: "All custodial interrogation of juveniles in future cases shall be electronically recorded where feasible, and without exception when questioning occurs at a place of detention." *Id.*, ¶ 57, 58.

A few months after *Jerrell C.J.* was decided, the legislature passed a bill that codified some aspects of the *Jerrell C.J.* decision. 2005 Wis. Act. 60, § 27 created § 938.195(2)(a), which states:

A law enforcement agency shall make an audio or audio and visual recording of any custodial interrogation of a juvenile that is conducted at a place of detention unless a condition under s. 938.31(3)(c)1. to 5. applies.

The exception under § 938.31(3)(c) applicable to this case is 1.:

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