# RECEIVED

07-08-2014

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT P WISCONSIN

No. 2013AP127-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RAHEEM MOORE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A SUPPRESSION MOTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, HONORABLE DAVID L. BOROWSKI, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Both sets of detectives went out of their way to make sure Moore received food and drink—even cigarettes—throughout the process. There were multiple interviews The two were separated by approximately three hours. Detectives took Moore out of the station in a squad to the scene of the crime and then to McDonald's on the way back. They later granted Moore's second request that the recorder be turned off. There were no threats or promises. Moore was not intoxicated or on medication. Compare State v. Triggs, 264 Wis.2d 861, ¶22 (while the suspect "consumed a large quantity of alcohol," there was no evidence she failed to understand her rights or behaved "irrationally" during the interview). Moore was not handcuffed or otherwise restrained during the interview except, for security reasons, when they drove out to the crime scene; Jerrell C.J., 283 Wis.2d 145, ¶6 (the juvenile was "handcuffed to a wall and left alone for approximately two hours" before the interrogation began).

The police "tactics" complained of here would indisputably be proper if the interviewee were an adult. They were proper here even though Moore was a juvenile under the totality of these circumstances.

Moore complains that the interview could not proceed until he was given an opportunity to speak with his parents. There is no *per se* rule requiring parental consultation before a juvenile's statement is deemed voluntary. It is one of the many factors in the totality of the circumstances analysis. Parental presence is not

required. *Jerrell C.J.*, 283 Wis.2d 145, ¶¶3, 43 ("However, we decline to abandon the 'totality of the circumstances' approach at this time in favor of Jerrell's per se rule regarding consultation with a parent or interested adult."). Moore never asked to speak with his parents even though talk about his parents came up repeatedly during the interviews and even though he provided his father's telephone number (93:25-26, 28). *Compare id.*, ¶¶10, 42 (police repeatedly rejected the juvenile's requests during the interview to speak with his parents); *id.* ¶¶121, 130 (Butler, J., concurring).

Thus, the current state of the law in Wisconsin is that the validity of juvenile confessions is determined based upon the totality of the circumstances in the case, and that presence of parents, guardian, or attorney is not an absolute requirement for the minor to validly waive his right to remain silent.

Theriault v. State, 66 Wis.2d at 41.

Moreover, the detectives told Moore they had spoken with his father and they apparently did (*see* 100:25). Moore did not in response ask to speak with his father, and there is nothing to indicate his father asked to speak with Moore. His mother was apparently taken into custody that day for a drug offense (*id.*).<sup>12</sup>

Moore complains that the detectives encouraged him to tell the truth and assured him that telling the truth is best. There is nothing wrong with encouraging honesty and telling the suspect that cooperation would be to his

<sup>12</sup> Police contacted Moore's father. It does not appear that his father asked to see Moore, told police not to talk to Moore or demanded that they get him a lawyer. Moore's mother was incarcerated at the time for a drug offense (101:Exh. 6, at 9, 41; 100:25). Despite talking about them throughout the interviews, Moore never asked to see either one of his parents. It is, therefore, misleading for Moore to state that the detectives "did not allow him to call his father," Moore's brief at 4, or that the detectives were guilty of "[f]ailure to call [his] parents." *Id.* at 35.

benefit, so long as police do not promise leniency. *State v. Berggren*, 2009 WI App 82, ¶31, 320 Wis.2d 209, 769 N.W.2d 110. There was no promise of leniency here. There is also nothing wrong with predicting what the prosecutor might do if he fails to cooperate. *Id*.

Moore complains the detectives used deception when they falsely led him to believe that Ronald Franklin and Raynard Franklin were "in the other room" being interviewed. The use of deception during an interrogation is not improper *per se*. It is but one relevant factor in the totality of the circumstances analysis. *State v. Ward*, 318 Wis.2d 301, ¶27; *State v. Triggs*, 264 Wis.2d 861, ¶¶1, 18-19. *See also State v. Jackson*, 333 Wis.2d 665, ¶¶21-22.

Of the numerous varieties of police trickery, however, a lie that relates to a suspect's connection to the crime is the least likely to render a confession involuntary.

Holland v. McGinnis, 963 F.2d 1044, 1051 (7th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 1082 (1993) (citing Wayne R. LaFave et al., Criminal Procedure § 6.2(c), at 446-48 (1984)).

Nor is it significant that deception regarding the evidence against a suspect might cause the suspect to confess because, in the *Holland* court's view:

Inflating evidence of Holland's guilt interfered little, if at all, with his "free and deliberate choice" of whether to confess, *Moran v. Burbine*, 475 U.S. 412, 421, 106 S.Ct. 1135, 1141, 89 L.Ed.2d 410 (1986), for it did not lead him to consider anything beyond his own beliefs regarding his actual guilt or innocence, his moral sense of right and wrong, and his judgment regarding the likelihood that the police had garnered enough valid evidence linking him to the crime. In other words, the deception did not interject the type of extrinsic considerations that would overcome Holland's will by distorting an

otherwise rational choice of whether to confess or remain silent.

Holland v. McGinnis, 963 F.2d at 1051. See also Johnson v. Pollard, 559 F.3d 746, 754-55 (7th Cir. 2009); United States v. Jacques, 744 F.3d 804, 812 (1st Cir. 2014).

The important point was not whether Ronald or Raynard Franklin was "in the other room." It was that Ronald told police Moore admitted to him he (Moore) and Raynard were involved, and he (Moore) fired the fatal shot. When the detectives confronted him with Ronald's accusation, Moore knew it to be true because Moore had indeed told Ronald on Tiawanna's porch immediately after the shooting that he and Raynard were involved, and he (Moore) fired the shot. At that point, Moore must have realized he was caught in a lie that might seal his fate, regardless whether Ronald and/or Raynard were "in the other room" or out on the street. See State v. Triggs, 264 Wis.2d 861, ¶¶19-20. This information caused Moore to consider "his own beliefs regarding his actual guilt or innocence, his moral sense of right and wrong, and his judgment regarding the likelihood that the police had garnered enough valid evidence linking him to the crime." Holland v. McGinnis, 963 F.2d at 1051.

If police inflated what they had learned up to that point, it did not prevent Moore from making a rational choice based on what *he knew about his own guilt. Id.* "A defendant's will is not overborne simply because he is led to believe that the government's knowledge of his guilt is greater than it actually is." *Ledbetter v. Edwards*, 35 F.3d 1062, 1070 (6th Cir. 1994). Finally, it should be recalled that Moore also employed deception during the interview—his creation of the overbearing "Jevonte" character.

In reality, Moore is challenging the reliability of his confession rather than its voluntariness: who would believe a confession from a fifteen-year-old of below average intelligence obtained after lengthy police interrogation? Reliability of a confession is, however, an issue of fact for the jury; not for the trial judge assessing its admissibility at a pretrial suppression hearing. *State ex rel. Goodchild v. Burke*, 27 Wis.2d at 262 ("If the judge determines that the confession was voluntarily made, the confession is admitted and the jury consideration is limited to its weight and credibility"). Moore waived his right to challenge the reliability of his confession when he waived his right to a trial.

Voluntary confessions are desirable. Maryland v. Shatzer, 559 U.S. 98, 108 (2010) ("they are an 'unmitigated good" (quoting McNeil v. Wisconsin, 501 U.S. 171, 181 (1991)), essential to finding, convicting and punishing law violators). See Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298, 305 (1985) ("far from being prohibited by the Constitution, admissions of guilt by wrongdoers, if not coerced, are inherently desirable" (quoting United States v. Washington, 431 U.S. 181, 187 (1977))). See also Arizona v. Mauro, 481 U.S. 520, 529 (1987); State v. Ward, 318 Wis.2d 301, ¶43 n.5.

The trial court properly refused to suppress Moore's voluntary confession—the end-product of lawful police interrogation of an experienced juvenile murder suspect that produced reliable evidence of his guilt.

D. If Moore's confession during and after the unrecorded portion of the interview should have been suppressed, it was harmless error.

Moore challenges the admissibility of only his inculpatory statements after 10:42 p.m. when police turned off the recorder. Moore does not challenge his admissions before then to participating in the robbery and murder.

## 1. The applicable law.

The harmless-error rule applies not only to appellate review of convictions obtained after trials, but also to review of convictions after a guilty or no-contest plea. *See State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis.2d 331, 367-71, 588 N.W.2d 606, *on reconsideration*, 225 Wis.2d 121, 121-22, 591 N.W.2d 604 (1999).

The harmless-error test applicable to a guilty or nocontest plea is whether there is a reasonable probability Moore would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial had his statements after 10:42 p.m. been suppressed. *Id.*, 223 Wis.2d at 370-71; *State v. Semrau*, 2000 WI App 54, ¶22, 233 Wis.2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 376. *See also State v. Rockette*, 2005 WI App 205, ¶31, 287 Wis.2d 257, 704 N.W.2d 382; *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985) (on an ineffective assistance challenge to a guilty or no-contest plea, the defendant must prove there is a reasonable probability he would not have pled and would have insisted on going to trial but for counsel's deficient performance).

The court considers several factors including: the strength of the state's case, the comparative weakness of the defense case, the defendant's incentive for pleading guilty, and the thoroughness of the plea colloquy. *State v. Rockette*, 287 Wis.2d 257, ¶¶27-31; *State v. Semrau*, 233 Wis.2d 508, ¶22. *See State v. Martin*, 2012 WI 96, ¶46, 343 Wis.2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270.

2. In all reasonable probability, Moore would have pled guilty to the reduced charge even if his admissions after the recorder was turned off had been suppressed.

Long before the audio recorder was turned off at 10:42 p.m., beginning shortly after 4:30 p.m., Moore readily admitted his active participation in the armed robbery and murder. He truthfully described in detail what occurred, where it occurred, how it occurred and why. The only falsehoods in his admissions up to that point were that: (1) his accomplice was the fictitious "Jevonte" and not Raynard Franklin; (2) Moore was only a lookout and his accomplice fired the fatal shot as the victim fled.

Long before the recorder was turned off, the first falsehood dropped out when Moore admitted his accomplice was Raynard Franklin. At this point, the state had an ironclad case of party-to-a-crime liability against Moore regardless of who fired the fatal shot.

Moore's description of the details of the crime and the actions of the two men did not change significantly throughout. Moore consistently described how they selected Parish whom they believed was buying drugs at a crack house; they called Parish back because someone "at the window" wanted to talk with him; when Parish returned, they announced the robbery and pointed the gun at him; Parish threw two baggies of cocaine at the men and ran; he was shot from behind. Moore simply reversed his and Raynard's roles after the recorder was turned off. The state had a detailed, ironclad case of party-to-a-crime liability against both men long before 10:42 p.m.

The state would have had more than Moore's admissions to use against him at a trial if Moore were allowed to withdraw his plea. There would be the

testimony of Ronald Franklin disclosing Moore's excited admission on Tiawanna's porch immediately after the shooting that Moore and Ronald's brother, Raynard, were involved, and Moore shot the man. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 908.01(4)(b)1. and 908.03(2). There would be the testimony of Moore's accomplice, Raynard Franklin, describing the crime they jointly committed. <sup>13</sup>

Moore also had every incentive to accept the state's plea offer. He faced 60 years on the initial charge of first-degree reckless homicide (31). That exposure was reduced to 25 years on the amended charge of second-degree reckless homicide, party-to-the-crime (57). Moore was sentenced on that reduced charge to a mere eleven years in prison followed by nine years of extended supervision (100:57).

It is impossible to believe that Moore would risk a trial now on the reinstated first-degree reckless homicide charge, facing a 60-year prison sentence, with the above-described damning evidence still available to the state even without his inculpatory admissions after the recorder was shut off. In all reasonable probability, Moore's trial lawyer would not have recommended that he reject the favorable plea deal and risk trial under these circumstances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Raynard Franklin pled guilty to felony murder and was sentenced to a lengthy prison term (100:20). Raynard, presumably, would not be able to invoke the Fifth Amendment if he were called by the state to testify. In his harmless error argument, Moore ignores the likely detrimental impact of Raynard and Ronald Franklin's testimony against him at a trial. Moore's brief at 23-25.

## II. MOORE'S INCULPATORY STATEMENTS AFTER 10:42 P.M. WERE ADMISSIBLE.

A. This court need not reach the issue whether Moore "refused" to talk with the recorder on because any error was harmless.

This court need not determine whether Moore "refused" at 10:42 p.m. to have the rest of his interview recorded, within the exception at Wis. Stat. § 938.31(3)(c)1. Even if this was not a "refusal," and all statements made during and after the unrecorded portion of the interview should have been suppressed, the error was harmless. "Moore's multiple lies, fabrications and admissions" before then render any error harmless. *State v. Moore*, 352 Wis.2d 675, ¶53 (Kessler, J., concurring) (Pet-Ap. 128).

Moreover, if this was not a sufficient "refusal" to be recorded, the remedy is not suppression of Moore's statements. Because this would have been an adult court trial, the remedy is not found in § 938.31, applicable only to juvenile proceedings, but in its counterpart at § 972.115(2)(a), applicable to adult felony jury trials.

Under § 972.115(2)(a), the remedy for improperly failing to record an inculpatory statement is merely to instruct the jury,

that it is the policy of this state to make an audio or audio and visual recording of a custodial interrogation of a person suspected of committing a felony and that the jury may consider the absence of an audio or audio and visual recording of the interrogation in evaluating the evidence relating to the interrogation and the statement in the case. Conversely, the juvenile code counterpart relied on by Moore, § 938.31(3), provides for *suppression* of such a statement but only under the following circumstances:

(b) Except as provided under par. (c), a statement made by the juvenile during a custodial interrogation is not admissible in evidence against the juvenile in any court proceeding alleging the juvenile to be delinquent unless an audio or audio and visual recording of the interrogation was made as required under s. 938.195 (2) and is available.

This was not at any point a juvenile delinquency proceeding. This was, from beginning to end, a felony prosecution in adult court. By virtue of the plain language of these statutes, Moore would only have been entitled to the jury instruction provided in § 972.115(2)(a) had there been a trial. *See State v. Steffes*, 2013 WI 53, ¶21, 347 Wis.2d 683, 832 N.W.2d 101 (this court is not free to rewrite or ignore the plain language of the statute). Left with only this remedy, it is plain that Moore's lawyer would still have advised him to take the favorable plea offer and plead guilty to the reduced charge. Any error was harmless.<sup>14</sup>

B. On the merits, by his words and actions, Moore effectively "refused" to fully confess his and Raynard's roles in the murder unless the detectives turned off the recorder.

Moore asked the officers to turn off the recorder at the point when he got closer to truthfully admitting his and Raynard's roles in the robbery and murder during

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